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Praise for The First Murderer I Ever Met


‘I always enjoy reading Mark Dapin’s books. Unlike many true crime writers, he thoroughly researches his subjects and has that rare ability to bring them to life… Take a walk on the dark side of humanity and look for the occasional bright lights of redemption.’

JOHN KILLICK

‘Only Mark Dapin could write a true crime book like this. His respectful irreverence for the characters who are used to be taken seriously provides the reader with a clearer understanding of what actually goes on in the world of crime. An entertaining and educational read for any true crime fan.’

GARY JUBELIN, Former NSW Police Homicide Detective

‘There are true crime writers and true crime reporters but Mark Dapin is in a league of his own. Essential reading for anyone interested in crime and our often corrupt justice system. The First Murderer I Ever Met is a confronting examination of power and powerlessness, of violence, narcissism and injustice from a writer who knows his subject. Mark Dapin comes to these stories with a writer’s lyrical touch, a journalist’s eye for a yarn and a good dose of lived experience.’

MICHAEL BRISSENDEN, author of Smoke
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ONE THE FIRST MURDERER I EVER MET


I am not a criminal, but I knew criminals when I was young. They hunched over the railings on the top floor of the shopping centre, cadging cigarettes, ‘borrowing’ money and watching girls ride the escalators. I didn’t like most of them, or their creepily over-sexualised horseplay. It was as if the thing that they enjoyed most about violence was the chance it gave them to feel flesh on flesh, to touch another person where they wouldn’t choose to be touched.

There was a cruel, smirking boy at my school in England who later became a murderer. His name was Ian Haywood and he was fearsome and fearless. We tussled once – or, rather, he tussled me – and I still remember the violation of his touch.



I grew up in a garrison town in south-east England, where visitors were met with a road sign reading ‘Welcome to Aldershot. Home of the British Army’. In the late 1970s, Aldershot was the headquarters of the Parachute Regiment, whose hulking, glowering troops menaced the main streets in sand-coloured desert boots, and sweatshirts printed with the gloatingly repurposed pacifist joke: ‘Join the army, travel to exotic, distant lands, meet exciting, unusual people and kill them.’ There was an unusual number of men who had killed in that town, and many more who wanted to. Paratroopers, out of all the soldiers in the British Army, do not join up to learn a civilian trade.

Civilians in Aldershot were immersed in army life, ringed in by military establishments and muscled out of town-centre pubs by Scotsmen and Scousers with blood-group tattoos. The army made the otherwise unremarkable area a target for Irish Republican bombers. In 1972, the Official IRA had blown up the 16th Parachute Brigade’s officers’ mess, killing six civilian workers and an army chaplain. The attack was in retaliation for the 1st Parachute Regiment’s massacre of 14 unarmed civilians in Derry, Northern Ireland, on what became known as Bloody Sunday. In October 1974, an active service unit of the Provisional IRA detonated gelignite in two squaddie pubs in nearby Guildford, killing four soldiers and a plasterer. Two months later, the Provos planted explosives at Aldershot Railway Station, in the hope of catching the hundreds of soldiers who crammed the platforms in December on their way to their Christmas leave. The bomb was discovered and defused. My family moved to Aldershot the next year, as property was unaccountably cheaper than anywhere else within commuting distance of London.

I left Heron Wood Comprehensive School for Boys in Aldershot in 1980. Haywood, who was a year younger than me, was nominally a pupil until 1981. Late in 1980, I bumped into one of my former teachers, Mr Seagraves, who had once threatened to kick me down the stairs. Seagraves asked if I’d heard about Haywood. He told me that when gypsy-travellers from our rival school had turned up at the gates of Heron Wood for the ritual end-of-year fistfight, Haywood had chased them off with a broken bottle.

I was studying at technical college in Farnborough, the town where Haywood lived, when I met him haunting the shopping centre with his little rat-faced mates. Haywood used to squeeze into the local paper sometimes, like many of the hard, uncaring boys who found themselves hapless and cornered in Aldershot court. When I sink into old editions of the Aldershot News, I almost drown. I could surface palpitating, gasping for air. I had forgotten so much.

In 1981, most of the thugs dressed like me, in Fred Perry shirts, khaki flight jackets and Dr. Martens boots. But I remember Haywood wore cheaper clothes, as if he did not understand.



Ian Michael Haywood was born in Aldershot. His parents split up when he was five years old, and he was raised by his mother, Jacqueline, with his two younger brothers in a council house on Park Road in Farnborough, about 20 minutes’ walk from the technical college. The town of Farnborough could be reached by a short drive through Aldershot Garrison along a road that used to be patrolled by Military Police. Every morning, paratroopers in maroon T-shirts jogged in tight formation past army playing fields, the military stadium and the garrison church. The road surfaces at the scrappy suburb of North Camp, which was once the northern part of the military town. Haywood’s home was in North Camp, near the railway line. His grandmother, Ivy, lived a few hundred metres away on the far side of a park. There was nothing much else in North Camp except for a drunken tattooist named Winnie, whose fingers shook with the tattoo gun, and her skinhead apprentice, Martin, who eventually took over the business.

I suspect Haywood was expelled from another school, as boys from North Camp didn’t generally attend Heron Wood and I don’t remember seeing him in the playground until he was about 15 years old. He first appeared in the Aldershot News in July 1980, when a front-page photograph of Haywood with his feet wrapped in bandages illustrated a story about an accident that occurred while he was carrying a petrol can into the house. According to the fabulously credulous reporter, Haywood dropped the plastic can by the back door and ‘as he bent down to pick it up his cigarette fell on it’.

Haywood went up in flames, which also set his little brother’s socks on fire. Their grandmother threw the younger boy to the floor and smothered the flames, while Haywood flung a wet mat over the petrol can and ran to a phone box to call the emergency services.

Ian was ‘so brave’, said his grandmother.

God only knows what really happened that day, or why a 15-year-old boy might be carrying a can of petrol into the house. But later that year, Haywood faced court for siphoning petrol, breaking into vehicles and joy-riding in company. He already had similar convictions, and he asked for 25 other offences to be taken into consideration.

Haywood had enjoyed a crime spree with two ‘friends’ aged 18 and 20. The younger man told police, ‘If I hadn’t been so scared of Ian, I wouldn’t have done any of this.’ Both men’s lawyers claimed their clients had ‘fallen under the influence of the youngest of the trio’.

Haywood’s solicitor, the long-suffering local lawyer Bernard Crick, denied that his client was ‘some kind of Svengali force’ but allowed that he had ‘a certain presence’. Haywood was ‘a natural leader’, said Crick. His actions were ‘irresponsible rather than evil’.

But then, everyone in court had a job to do (except Haywood), and you might as well do it as best you can or not do it at all.

Crick told the court that his client had boasted to him, ‘Sometimes I could hardly go wrong. People are so stupid they are almost inviting crime.’

Other people asked for it.

Haywood suffered the ‘short sharp shock’ promised by the ruling Conservative Party to young offenders because, after all, they had asked for it. The idea was that juvenile delinquents would be subject to an army-style regime, something like the basic military training that their grandfathers, who were now in government, had enjoyed during the Second World War. Older men remembered the army’s dawn runs, drills, PT and field punishments with wry and distant gratitude. The discipline they had learned had given them humility, focus and purpose.

But they had forgotten that the purpose was to come out ready to kill people.

The Tories opened a clutch of youth detention centres (‘DCs’ to the boys) dedicated to their benighted experiment. A newspaper report later retold former inmates’ stories of ‘beatings, humiliation and sexual assault at “sadistic, brutal concentration camps” ’. I did not imagine that was the intention of the government – although now I am not so sure – but everyone at the time knew that the DCs were like that. Everyone.

More than half of the boys who received the ‘short sharp shock’ were convicted again within a year. Some, like Haywood, ended up in more traditional young offenders’ institutions, known as borstals. A small number of boys in Aldershot consciously envisaged this progression as a career path, culminating in their first jail term – then, when they finally came out of prison, they would be properly hard. I knew almost a dozen from my school who went to DC, although most of them were not my friends. A few emerged apparently undamaged; others seemed to have been driven mad.

The night Haywood was released from borstal in 1982, he had sex with a married Farnborough teenager named Pia Scattergood. She became pregnant with Haywood’s child, but Haywood swiftly married another woman. His marriage lasted three weeks, and Haywood eventually went back to Scattergood and their baby.

The couple lived on housing benefit and dole money in hotel emergency accommodation in Fleet, a nondescript town about 10 minutes’ drive from Aldershot, and the base of the British Army’s Gurkha regiment of Nepali mercenaries. When they weren’t training or deployed, the Gurkhas strolled through Aldershot and Farnborough in small groups, implacable and displaced, all wearing the same green suits. I knew a couple of women who must have been sex workers, who cruised around in summer wearing T-shirts printed with digital images of Gurkhas’ faces so the Nepalis would know who to approach.

I left Aldershot when I finished technical college. I went to university and had no idea what had happened to Haywood. The first news of him that reached me arrived in 1984, when I was sitting in the kitchen of my student accommodation and picked up a discarded newspaper to read that Haywood had been jailed for life for the murder of Karena Bigg-Wither of Dogmersfield, a wealthy village near Fleet.

Haywood was 19 years old and unemployed when he met 26-year-old Karena at a barbecue in Farnborough. Karena came from a distinguished naval family and could trace her ancestors for generations beyond the spurned Georgian suitor Harris Bigg-Wither, who had famously asked Jane Austen for her hand in marriage in 1802. Karena’s grandfather, Guy Plantagenet Bigg-Wither, had fought in the Royal Navy at the Battle of Jutland in the First World War. Her father, Lt Commander Richard Lovelace Bigg-Wither, had taken a commission in the Fleet Air Arm at the outbreak of the Second World War and trained as a naval fighter pilot. For his part in strikes against the German battleship Tirpitz, Richard was awarded the Distinguished Service Cross, which was stolen from him by Haywood after Haywood had butchered his daughter.

Because everybody’s family history is equal parts tragedy and farce, one of Karena’s sisters moved to Australia, where she acted in 225 episodes of the daytime TV soap The Young Doctors.

Karena was restless and had not yet found her way in life. She had been educated at St Christopher School in Letchworth, an expensive, progressive private school founded on the principles of the eclectic philosophy of Theosophy, which advocated universal brotherhood among students of every race, colour and creed who could afford to pay the school fees. She had since worked as a waitress and an Avon lady.

‘She was always sorry for misfits and showed them remarkable sympathy,’ according to her friend Clarissa Cousins. ‘She attracted insecure people. They came to her like a magnet.’

Karena lived in a modern, self-contained annex of Well Waters, her parents’ historical five-bedroom home, which was itself made up of two brick cottages knocked together. After the barbecue, Karena joined Haywood for lunch and a walk down the Basingstoke Canal. They met again a few weeks later and she invited him to stay at Well Waters while her mother and father were away in Paris.

He spent the night in a sleeping bag on the floor, before returning to his hotel to change his clothes and then come back to Dogmersfield to burgle the family home of the woman who had tried to help him. Karena caught him stealing things from the living room and started screaming, so he tried to strangle her.

She broke away from him and fled the flat into the garden. ‘I chased her to the side of the house and grabbed hold of her arm,’ said Haywood in a statement later read out in court. ‘There was a machete lying by the lawn mower. I hit her across the neck with the blunt side but she carried on screaming.’

So he hit her again.

In court, the prosecutor paraphrased the next section of Haywood’s statement: ‘Noticing she was badly injured, he thought, What would one do with an injured bird, put it out of its agony? So he finished her off.’

And that was what has stayed with me through the years since I read the newspaper report – the idea that Haywood had ‘finished her off’ like an injured bird. If it had not been for those words, I might have forgotten Haywood, as I have forgotten so much else.

After Haywood had mercifully disposed of his victim and thrown the machete, a military-issue bush knife that he had brought with him, in a stream, he carried on with the burglary – because you might as well, eh? He loaded Karena’s Mini Metro with her father’s sword and war medals, three televisions, two cassette players, two calculators and a fur coat, and drove it back to the Fleet Hotel, where Pia Scattergood and 18-year-old Lisa Dove helped him unload the car.

Haywood had been gone for two days.

Where did he tell the women he had been?

Dove returned to Dogmersfield with Haywood to pick up the car he had left at Well Waters. Haywood himself preferred to drive the dead woman’s black Mini Metro.

That evening, Karena’s parents returned from a business-trip-cum-holiday in France. Richard noticed a broken window and assumed there had been a robbery. Their daughter and her car were nowhere to be seen, but her parents were not worried because of Karena’s ‘somewhat strange’ lifestyle.

The next morning in the garden, Richard found Karena’s ‘horribly mutilated’ body lying between a hedge and a rhododendron bush, with 16 ‘appalling wounds’ to her head and face alone. That was how the war hero would remember his daughter.

Police tracked the Mini Metro in a fixed-wing Cessna 172 plane, following Haywood from above until he gave himself up.

In Winchester Crown Court in May 1984, Haywood pleaded guilty to the murder of Karena. The judge sentenced him to life in prison.

A court reporter wrote that Richard watched Haywood leave the dock and then walked briskly from the court, his eyes filled with tears. He said he was ‘absolutely shattered’.

Because Haywood had broken him into pieces.

Richard later said that words could not describe his feelings of pain and loss. ‘It’s unbelievable yet I know it is a fact and nothing can change it,’ he said. ‘I ask myself why a young fellow like that could do such a thing, but only he can give an answer to that.

‘Karena was a very wonderful child and we loved her dearly,’ he said. ‘The shock fades but the pain will never go away.’

He and his wife were tormented by thoughts that their daughter might still be alive if they had not gone to Paris. ‘If you keep saying that, it will go on forever,’ he said. ‘It is soul-destroying.’

Richard said he had ‘no feelings at all’ towards Haywood. ‘Somehow or other he is nothing. All I think about is my daughter.’ But he wanted Haywood’s family to know he held no malice towards them.

Haywood’s mother told the local paper that ‘shame and anxiety’ had forced her to give up her job as a taxi company radio operator, and she anticipated prolonged ‘backbiting’ over the fact that her son had hacked a woman to death at her home with a machete, burgled her house, then stolen her car. But she had visited Haywood every week in jail, and he was a ‘completely different person now’.

In those days, it was thought that young women should bear their share of blame for being murdered or raped. A disgusting story in the London Daily Mirror began ‘A girl who had everything in life died because the only men she liked were dropouts, hippies and lame ducks’ and described Karena as ‘pretty but spoiled’. That kind of writing made it easier for men such as Haywood to murder women such as Karena, who are ‘so stupid they are almost inviting crime’, as Haywood told his lawyer in Aldershot.

I did not know Pia Scattergood, but I recall her family in Aldershot. She had a relative who kept company with a man who raped and repeatedly stabbed my best mate’s older sister. In a supermarket café, I once sat with my friend behind his sister’s rapist and Scattergood’s relative.

The relative was wearing a tonic suit.

The useless things you remember.

For ‘handling’ Karena’s father’s medals and her mother’s clothes and the family’s tape recorders and televisions, Pia Scattergood was given a year’s probation and ordered to pay £20 costs. Her lawyer, Bernard Crick, said Haywood had come back from two days away ‘laden down with gifts’ and Scattergood ‘did not know where they had come from’. Crick accepted that his current client was aware that his former client was ‘a man of criminal propensity’, but claimed she thought him to be a ‘fairly harmless rogue’.

The aftermath of the murder charge had been ‘traumatic’ for her, he said. She had been subjected to ‘public interest, sometimes unpleasant’. She had endured the ‘indignity’ of police searching her room to find the stolen property, lost her relationship with the man who had fathered her child, been forced to move out of the hotel because of publicity surrounding the case (and the fact that she had been using her room to store personal possessions stolen from the heartbroken family of a mutilated murder victim).

‘She has certainly suffered right across the board,’ said Crick.

And there was another thing Scattergood found hard to take: ‘She is very concerned that the other lady who helped him unload the car has never been charged,’ said Crick.

Because that was the real injustice.



When I began working on true crime, I wrote a magazine story nodding to the idea that I had met a murderer at school. I was loath to name Haywood, because I thought it might keep his memory alive, but these days I see he has become the subject of one of those horrible murder podcasts made by presenters who spin together their stories by collaging cases from newspaper clippings.

And perhaps what I am doing is not much different. But maybe I can cast some new light on this episode, at least. Haywood had only just met his victim. However, it was suggested that ‘even had Karena known him better, she would still have had no reason to believe her life was in danger’, according to the Aldershot News. Sure, he had a recent conviction for assault, but ‘his savage act shocked even those who knew him best’.

Garbage.

It didn’t shock me, and I hadn’t seen him for three years.

In this book, I talk mainly about criminals, police and prison officers I have met, and places where I have been. I have spoken with everyone I could find who might remember what happened. I know that this still does not make my ‘true crime’ writing true, but I hope that it at least makes it useful.

However, I am uneasily aware that whatever I choose to write about Haywood, for example, there will be somebody who reads it and thinks, ‘Wow, he sounds like the ideal boyfriend. He probably just hasn’t met the right woman.’

Because that’s what happened last time.



A few years ago, I asked a mate from home if he knew what had become of Ian Haywood. He told me he thought Haywood had been released from prison and had killed again.

I have only just bothered to check if that was true.

Haywood was freed from jail on licence in December 1998, having served 14-and-a-half years of his life sentence. In prison he had a volunteer prison visitor and counsellor who had concluded that he was a changed man and ultimately married him. Haywoods’ second wife Ann had been aware that her husband was a murderer, but he had told her he had killed his abusive stepfather – and maybe that’s what he had been doing, in his head, while he hacked away at Karena. Maybe he was taking the machete to his stepfather, or himself. Because there is generally only one thing that turns a boy into a man who sees the bodies of others as playthings to be enjoyed then destroyed.

Ann and Haywood had four children together, two of them conceived while their father was out on day release. Ann later claimed that Haywood had forced her into prostitution in January 2000, to pay the family’s bills.

‘My husband arranged for me to go to a brothel,’ she said. ‘It was the most miserable 12 hours in my life. I was very fortunate. The customers didn’t want me and I came home in tears.’

On the morning of 18 January 2001, however, Haywood himself was to be the breadwinner. He left home in Hurstpierpoint in West Sussex dressed in a pinstriped suit and told his wife he planned to pose as a Jehovah’s Witness to talk his way into an elderly couple’s house in nearby Ditchling and then rob them.

Ann understood that her husband ‘associated with criminals’ and ‘owed some people money’. She was also aware that he had bought a gun.

On his way to victimise vulnerable retirees, Haywood, who now weighed 101.5 kilos and was supposed to be an unemployed truck driver (in the past, he had been an unemployed labourer), apparently changed his mind. Instead, he masked up in a balaclava and, armed with a starting pistol and a kitchen knife, attacked a young couple at Ditchling Common, about 15 minutes’ drive from his home. He dragged a 19-year-old man out of a battered old Ford Sierra, fired a blank shot into the air, hit him over the head and forced him into the boot. When his 17-year-old passenger told Haywood she had no money or mobile phone, he marched her to a lake and demanded that she take off her clothes. She refused.

‘His eyes were open really wide,’ she later said. ‘I thought he was going to rape me. I curled into a ball. I pushed his hand away and he started to get angry. He was bending over me. He stepped back and pulled something out of his pocket. It was a knife.

‘I leant forward and I felt the first stab. Then he did it another two times. He went for my head, so I put my hands up. The blade went right through my hand and he just kept going and going. It felt like someone was punching me. It seemed to go on for hours.’

Haywood stuck his knife into her 35 times. One thrust pierced her hand and went into her neck. She had to have her finger sewn back on, and she would be scarred on her body and face for the rest of her life. A doctor specialising in trauma later called it ‘one of the worst repeated stabbings that I have seen’. The victim needed 143 stitches.

But she fought Haywood off. She kicked him in the balls and he rolled around on the grass groaning, before walking away.

That’s how hard Haywood was.

She ‘played dead’ until he was out of sight.

The young woman’s boyfriend managed to kick his way out of the car boot, and found her shaking and soaked in blood. Haywood returned home to his wife wearing a bloodstained shirt and carrying a bloodied knife handle.

‘I have done a young couple on Ditchling Common,’ he said.

He told her he had stabbed a woman but did not know whether she was dead. He had to deal with her as she had ‘started kicking and screaming’, he said.

That bloody screaming again.

Ann asked what had happened.

‘The bloody knife broke,’ he said. ‘That’s what happened.’

Ann later told a court, ‘I was numb, I couldn’t really believe it. I just stayed calm. I said, “So you didn’t get anything then?” and he said, “No, sorry babe.” ’

Haywood wiped down the front seat of his car with baby wipes and stuffed his blood-drenched clothes into a bin bag and the knife handle into a cereal packet in the rubbish bin. Ann and Haywood watched a bit of TV together, then went upstairs, where Haywood lifted his wife onto his shoulders so she could hide the starting pistol in cladding in the loft.

Ann spent a sleepless night in fear of her husband – who had just lost a knife fight to an unarmed 17-year-old girl – then called the police in the morning and named him as the Ditchling Common attacker.

After he heard his name on the TV news, Haywood walked into a police station with a lawyer and gave himself up. But in court, he claimed that his wife was mentally ill and had tried to frame him with the help of her friends in the underworld.

Because it turned out that Ann had a past, too.

She had known the Kray Twins, Britain’s most notorious gangsters, since she was 18 years old, and had visited the late Ronnie Kray in what was once called the Broadmoor Criminal Lunatic Asylum. Ronnie, who had been described by criminal psychiatrists as ‘educationally subnormal, psychopathic, schizophrenic and insane’, had left Ann about £2000 in his will, although she claimed she had refused to take it.

But a jury at the Old Bailey found Haywood guilty of attempted murder, attempted rape, false imprisonment and two offences of attempted robbery, and the judge gave Haywood five life sentences and suggested he never be released.

Karena’s sister, Alexandra, said that he shouldn’t have been let out in the first place and, ‘When I said I wished to object I was told that it was too late and would have no effect on the outcome.’

The jury had apparently gasped when the judge delivered his sentence and revealed to them that Haywood had killed before.

Haywood’s latest victim told her local paper, ‘I still get flashbacks… It’s just so hard to pick up and carry on. If I am walking along and I can hear someone behind it still scares me, so I start to walk faster. If someone suddenly walks out in front I just collapse.

‘Even the trial doesn’t seem real,’ she said. ‘It’s like my body works but my head isn’t functioning. I call it an attack. I can’t believe it was attempted murder. I cried when I was in court.’

She could not come to terms with the fact that a stranger had wanted to kill her, to end her life for no reason at all.

A detective on the case later described Haywood’s attack as ‘apparently motiveless’. ‘What did he think he could get from two youngsters in a beaten-up Ford Sierra?’ he asked.

Haywood’s victim had left college and gone into full-time work, but she suffered from panic attacks and needed counselling – and then, of course, there were the scars. ‘Now I do feel a bit ashamed,’ she said.

She felt ashamed.

‘After the attack I went out and bought rollneck tops because I look at my hands and I think everyone else is going to see what I see,’ she said, ‘but they don’t.’

Her family helped her as much as they could. ‘They were with me all the time,’ she said. ‘They had to cut my food and help me go to the toilet. I couldn’t make my own drink or hold the kettle. I couldn’t hold my knife and fork properly and I used to get so angry.’

Ann Haywood apparently told a tabloid newspaper that Haywood had been a caring and romantic husband. ‘I felt his love for me and the kids was real,’ she supposedly said, ‘but it can’t have been. I was stupid.’ Although perhaps when Haywood had coerced her into sex work, she might have realised he was not Mr Right. Or when it was revealed that he was spending weekends with another woman in nearby Hove.

A lot of people in Aldershot were wary of Ian Haywood, who had been armed with a gun when he attacked a young woman with his knife – but even though she was horribly injured, she had fought him off.

Haywood was empty-handed when he grabbed me in Farnborough, but I have a collapsing feeling that I smiled as if I took it as a joke, and grinned weakly to make him stop.

That’s how hard I was.

But then, I’m not the one who’s in jail for life, am I, you fat cunt?






TWO READING CHOPPER READ


The face of Australian ‘true crime’ changed in December 1991. First it lost its ears, then it lost its mind.

Just in time for Christmas, a previously unknown Melbourne publisher, Sly Ink, released Chopper from the Inside, billed as the ‘confessions of the Australian underworld’s most feared headhunter, Mark Brandon Read’. The author claimed to have been ‘involved in 19 deaths inside and outside jail’ and by 1993, when I was writing for Australian Penthouse magazine, ‘Chopper’ Read had published three books of ‘confessions’. He was also back in jail.

People who didn’t read books read Read’s books. They reached the garbo on his unsteady bar stool, the shift worker on her midnight lunchbreak, the juvie kids in their dorms. People who didn’t buy books stole Read’s books. Roman Cedar, a manager at the Melbourne Angus & Robertson bookshop, told me, ‘With the delivery of Chopper 3, we put twenty books on the shelf that morning. Within an hour or two, there was one left. I said to the girls, “Gee, that’s going well.” We all looked at each other and nobody had sold one.’

But enough customers paid the cover price to make Chopper from the Inside a national bestseller, and Read kept on grinding out sequels and revisions until 2011, by which time he had authored 13 books of memoir and Chopper-branded fiction. As his work progressed, its relationship with fact became ever more distant. Chopper 5 was subtitled Pulp Faction; Chopper 7 was a novel. Chopper 9: The Final Cut included a crock-of-shit story about me.



I met Read a couple of times and corresponded with him in the late 1990s. I have written about our brief encounters more often than makes me feel comfortable, but my feelings have changed over time, just as Read evolved his own ideas about what he had done and who he was supposed to be.

Mark Brandon Read was born into a Seventh-day Adventist family in Melbourne in 1954. He claimed that his father, Keith, had been a commando in the Second World War, when in fact he was a dental technician. Read claimed that his father used to beat him senseless, but generally on the orders of his religious, disciplinarian mother, Valerie.

Valerie worried about her erratically behaved son’s mental health and had him committed to Royal Park Hospital in Melbourne when he was 14 years old, then, briefly, to Larundel Mental Asylum in Bundoora. In 1971, Read broke into a nightclub storeroom and was sentenced to detention at Turana Youth Training Centre. The author Adam Shand has written that Read should have been given probation for his first offence but his mother refused to have him in the house, so her son was made a ward of the state and dispatched indefinitely to Turana. He escaped after six weeks and his parents brought him back, but they allowed him home after five months.

Read followed the well-trodden path from boys’ home to jail. His earlier books tell the story of one man at war with the underworld: a toe cutter, a headhunter, a stone killer, a professional torturer willing to use any level of violence to strip drug dealers and armed robbers of their criminal earnings. In fact, he collected a criminal history sheet of minor charges, reprinted on the inside front cover of Chopper from the Inside: ‘unlawful assault’, ‘indecent language’, ‘assault police’ (which generally meant having been assaulted by police), ‘burglary’, ‘assault’, ‘burglary with intent to commit assault’…

There was one armed robbery and one attempted escape on his record, but no murders.



Chopper from the Inside and Chopper 2: Hits and Memories offered tours of Pentridge Prison – and, in particular, the jail’s maximum security H Division – with appendices entitled ‘Who’s Who in the Zoo’, a crim-watchers guide to hardmen in captivity. The entries read like personal files kept on violent inmates by a cruel and possibly insane guard with a nasty but often effective sense of humour. A reader of the Chopper books felt they’d been given an insider’s tour of a closed world, and could now speak authoritatively about gangsters such as Russell Cox, Read’s childhood friend ‘Mad’ Charlie Hegyalji, Peter Lawless and lunatics such as Ted Eastwood. Many of Read’s stories involved bloodshed in Pentridge Prison, most dramatically during the so-called Overcoat War that decimated H Division in the late 1970s.

H Division was supposed to loom as a warning to the rest of the prison population that no matter how bad things might be in the yard, they could always get worse for men who fought back. Biro-scratched graffiti on the walls read ‘This is hell’. Hell was surrounded by razor wire, and bluestone walls like massive tombstones. Souls in Hell lay on hard beds in tiny, bare cubicles, never more than a couple of metres from their own shit. H Division prison shirts had targets on the front and back as any prisoner seen trying to escape was supposed to be shot on sight.

Many new arrivals at H Division were stripped naked and beaten – often unconscious – by an unwelcoming committee of prison officers with batons, in a ‘reception buff’ that was once common practice in the maximum security units of many Australian prisons.

The population of H Division was always a mix. Prison escapees were automatically sent to ‘the slot’, where they mingled with rioters, rule-breakers and men who had assaulted prison officers. Rebels who continued to arc up were beaten down until they stopped making a nuisance of themselves. But other prisoners were held in H Division for their own protection, because elsewhere in the system they might be attacked or killed.

After a number of judicial inquiries and a succession of refusals, by prisoners such as Steve Sellers and Christopher Dale Flannery, to cooperate with H Division’s cartoon regime of battery, abuse and breaking small rocks into smaller rocks, the biffings and bashings were relaxed but not abandoned. However, after Read arrived in H Division in June 1975, he came to be used as a proxy by prison officers to bash uncooperative inmates on their behalf.

This, in part, was Read’s Overcoat War, which brought chaos and terror to the block for at least 18 months. Read bragged that he had the support of the toughest of the warders and the governor of H Division. He claimed that his allies included his good mate Jimmy Loughnan; the serial murderer Robert Wright; and Ted Eastwood, who had kidnapped and threatened to slaughter a class of primary-school children in 1972 and did the same again when he broke out of Geelong Gaol in 1977.

Eastwood was not popular within the Victorian prison system, which was crammed tight with grown-up schoolchildren who had suffered traumatic abuse at the hands of merciless older men. Wright, who had been involved in the murders of three women and a child, was also widely disliked. Loughnan seems to have been considered an amiable (albeit murderous) lunatic.

Pitted against Read’s overcoat-wearing ‘Overcoat Gang’ (of which Eastwood claimed not to have been a member) was the Victorian criminal establishment in the form of Painters & Dockers and armed robbers Keith Faure and Johnny Palmer and their long-established network of waterfront gangsters and associates. Read characterised his crew as outsiders, just as Read himself had been an outsider in the criminal world due to his supposed propensity for bashing and robbing other crooks.

Read claimed the Overcoat War began when he and Palmer had argued over who had eaten more than their fair share of Christmas sausages in 1975, but he also wrote that his gang existed partly to protect Billy ‘the Texan’ Longley, who had been aligned against Faure’s family and faction in the murderous infighting that wrecked the Victorian branch of the Painters & Dockers union in the early 1970s.



Read was in and out of jail (but mostly in) until he was released on parole in November 1991, one month before the publication of Chopper from the Inside. I didn’t see the first television interview he gave, to Hard Copy journalist Renée Brack, because I didn’t have a television. But I read the feature that Brack later wrote for Australian Penthouse. Read, whom Brack described as ‘one of Australia’s most notorious criminals’, had moved to Tasmania, where he had acquired a faithful assistant, Trent. In the days before the Port Arthur Massacre, even a parolee such as Read was able to legally travel the state with an arsenal of firearms. As prosecutor Damian Bugg later described it, he was ‘chauffeur-driven around the northern city of Tasmania, Launceston, in a vehicle which contained, at all times, a sawn-off .410 shotgun, a Beretta pistol, a 357 Magnum revolver and a pump-action shotgun, which was displayed on the parcel rack at the back of the car’.

Read took Brack out for a drink at the Clarendon Arms in Evandale; treated her to a target practice session in the bush, where he shot a stubbie out of Trent’s hand; then (on screen, at least) coaxed her into a game of Russian roulette, in which he loaded his pistol with a single round, spun the barrel, pointed it at Brack’s head and pulled the trigger.

‘Chopper’, the character that Read created for himself, was a triumph of presentation. Read had another inmate cut off his ears in February 1978, in an attempt to get himself out of H Division for, er, having no ears. Uniquely mutilated, he looked like a cross between a bikie, a bouncer, a bandit, a bushie and a bear (in every sense of the word), with his wrestler’s shoulders, missing helixes, moustache, tattoos and largely self-inflicted scarring. But his manner was just as important. He was clever and funny and ruthlessly self-aware. But above all, he was hard – hard-hearted, hard-headed and, yes, hard copy.

Four days after Brack’s interview, Read was arrested again and charged with attempted murder, having apparently shot bikie Sydney Michael Collins in his car, outside the same Evandale pub where Read had met with Brack. A reporter could not ask for a better end to her story.

Read denied shooting Collins, whom he had driven to hospital, but the apparently faithful Trent turned out to be an unfaithful Trent and rolled over on his boss. Read was found guilty of grievous bodily harm and sentenced to indefinite detention as a ‘dangerous criminal’.



I had a couple of criminal contacts, partly through my interest in boxing, and they were sceptical about most of Read’s earlier claims. They said he was a deluded fantasist and an enforcer on behalf of the prison officers. Certain people passed on phone numbers, and I ended up on a call with Ted Eastwood, the serial kidnapper of children, who had written a narcissistic, self-serving, insightless account of his own moronic exploits, published by an even smaller operation than Sly Ink.

And it wasn’t even funny.

Eastwood told me that Chopper from the Inside was ‘80 per cent fantasy’. In a separate conversation, the largely well-regarded gangster and H Division veteran Peter Lawless told me Read was ‘a complete, raving liar’. I spoke with crime fiction writer Peter Corris, who disendorsed Read’s first memoir as ‘badly written, clichéd, chaotically organised and partly bogus’. He told me, ‘I absolutely detested that Chopper book. You could tell internally that a great proportion of it was embellished, embroidered.’

In fact, much of it is stolen.

What Read really took from other criminals was not their toes but their stories. His toe-cutting tales were openly lifted from the sometimes unlikely accounts of the exploits of feared standover man Linus Patrick Driscoll, but Read borrowed widely from other sources too. Chopper from the Inside opens with a chapter where Read is kidnapped in 1977 by ‘a Melbourne criminal’ who hands him a shovel and commands him at gunpoint to dig his own grave. Read complies and digs a waist-deep pit before turning on his tormenter and thrusting the blade of the spade first into his kneecap and then into his brain. ‘I’ve heard that quite a few fellows in the 1970s had to dig their own graves,’ wrote Read, tellingly.

In March 1981, the detestable Ron Chester had lured a criminal named Alan Woodward up to Sydney from Adelaide. Chester and his accomplices drove Woodward out to bushland near Picton, New South Wales, ostensibly to bury some guns. Chester stood guard while Woodward dug the hole then forced him at gunpoint to take off his clothes and lie down in the pit. Then Chester shot Woodward through the teeth so that the police wouldn’t be able to identify his body. The story was reported in detail in the Sydney Morning Herald. Sadly, Woodward lacked the strength of body and presence of mind to turn his shovel on his attackers, and so he never lived to tell the tale.

Happily, however, Chopper lived to tell it for him.

In Chopper from the Inside, Read claimed to have attacked a gangster who belittled Read’s ostensibly beloved Ita Buttrose. In response, Read knocked out the gangster and ‘made sure he lost an eye’. By Chopper 2, Read had remembered that he had actually popped out the gangster’s eye, dropped it in a glass of beer and swallowed it. In my book Prison Break, I suggested that Chopper had borrowed the story from Bill Buford’s British football hooligan classic Among the Thugs, but writer and former prisoner Ray Mooney told me that the idea originated in his novel A Green Light, which was based on the life of Mooney’s friend Christopher Dale Flannery.

Underworld lore is based on oral traditions. A jail can work like a preliterate society. One man walks up and down the yard, yarning with his mates, telling the story about the time he robbed a convenience store with a toy gun while wearing a Zorro mask. Over the years, either his mistakes or his achievements (or both) become magnified. The 7-Eleven becomes either a garage sale or a high street bank; the toy gun becomes either a water pistol or a Magnum; the mask either a laddered stocking or the actual face of his enemy, cut from his living body while he was chained up in a dungeon and fixed forever in his final scream.

Other prisoners pass on their version of the story to their friends, who add their own details through Chinese whispers or jail-yard boredom or simple narrative flair. People become confused about the identity of the original storyteller and perhaps credit it to the person who told them. Then a man such as Read hears the tale, colours it with a swatch of gaudy, improbable additions, and says it happened to him.

If Read had not commandeered them, the tall tales that he pirated might finally have become apocryphal, handed down through generations of prisoners to explain why it might not be a great idea to get stoned, then rob the shop next door, or why a man should never accompany his enemy down the steps to a dungeon. But, as Peter Lawless told me when Read was back in jail, Read ‘sits back and listens to a story, goes back to his cell and writes it down’.

Read’s books were edited and published by Australia’s two best crime writers, John Silvester and Andrew Rule. Chopper from the Inside began as a series of letters Read had sent to Silvester from jail. In an inspired gambit, Silvester later wrote to some of the men named in Chopper from the Inside, offering them the right of reply. Ted Eastwood’s relationship with Read crumbled after Read wrote that the kidnapper – ‘a true gentleman and a loyal friend, a strong man and a rare individual’ – had no musical talent. This slight on his apparently annoying guitar playing led Eastwood to reflect more broadly on Read’s allegedly treacherous nature.

Eastwood wrote to say how upset he was, and how he now realised that Chopper had once tried to kill him. Read turned the letter into a short chapter in Chopper 2. Eastwood believed that, like a mythical savage who kills an enemy then eats his heart to get his power, Chopper wanted to absorb Eastwood’s criminal infamy into his own life by becoming the man who strangled the Faraday kidnapper. Eastwood told me that Read preyed on younger prisoners in Pentridge, standing over them for clothing and tobacco brought in by their families, beating them up, taking out his penis and offering the choice: ‘Suck cock or die.’

Little things mean a lot in jail, when all you have is time to dwell on them. Read wrote that Lawless, who spent four years in H Division, was ‘a non-tubber’ who did not wash. Lawless, who was living on the outside when I spoke to him, maintained the rage. ‘I don’t know what he’s on about,’ he said. ‘I don’t know why he isolated me on this one.’

In H Division, Lawless worked in the laundry, ‘And I had a fucking shower too,’ he said. ‘I hate being in the same clothes a second day. As soon as I finish what I’m doing, I take my clothes off. I went to work this morning, I had a Radox bath. When I come home in the night, I’ll have a bath.’

Get the picture?

By then, Lawless said of Read: ‘Earlier when I came across him, there was a lot said about the fact that he was quite happy to polish shoes for the more reputed crims in Pentridge, looking up to the heavier type crims… I believe he was protected by officials anyway. He was a protection prisoner.’



Long after Read died, I spoke about him with retired Sydney criminal Alec Shalala, who appears in Chopper 2 as the subject of a characteristically peculiar poem, ‘Alex the Arab’. I was introduced to Shalala after a night in a Kings Cross bar where I had planned to be in the audience for a spoken word show featuring gangster-turned-journalist-turned-back-to-gangster Bernie Matthews and former armed robber John Killick, who had famously escaped from Silverwater Prison in a helicopter hijacked by his Russian girlfriend.

Matthews was seriously ill and couldn’t make it, so I offered to take his place on the bill and pass the fee back to him. If I remember correctly, I went on after Killick and warmed up the crowd for the main act, the comedian Paul Fenech. I re-enacted my 30 seconds in the boxing ring with Kostya Tszyu, playing the parts of both ‘fighters’ myself. Killick believed I was drunk, but I just thought Matthews could do with the money and I don’t mind making an idiot of myself for a good cause, since most of the time I make an idiot of myself for no reason at all.

Killick had arrived with a woman who’d had a relationship with Shalala. We all got talking, and a few days later, I was speaking on the phone to Shalala. I never got paid for the gig and now Matthews is dead.



Shalala is of the same generation as Read. He came to Pentridge as a young prisoner in 1975 and met Read in the yard. ‘Mad Charlie used to order him around,’ he told me. ‘He used to get him to pick him up on his back and run up and down the yard to show how tough he was. Charlie used him up.’

Read was ‘a harmless bloke to talk to at that time’, said Shalala. ‘When I first met him, I almost liked him. But he was brainless. I never thought he’d have the brain to write a book.

‘Read, Mad Charlie and Jimmy Loughnan were in the boys’ yard,’ said Shalala, ‘and they used to go around standing over all the young kids. And one of the kids I’d met in Russell Street lock-up. We were heading back to the jail and this kid was just petrified. I said, “Don’t let everyone see you’re scared.” He was of Egyptian origin. I spoke to him in a couple of words of Arabic so we understood each other. I said, “If you have any problems there, come and see me.” The next thing, he’s come to me and said these blokes are standing over him.

‘You could wear your own clothes until you were sentenced,’ said Shalala. ‘He had a leather jacket and belt and they were trying to take them off him so they could exchange them for tobacco, which was a currency we used in jail. So I just walked out and told Chopper Read to leave him alone. He said, “What’re you going to do about it?” I’d sharpened up a knife, just to protect myself. I never had to use it…’

Later in the year, Shalala escaped from HMP Beechworth in north-east Victoria. Upon his recapture he served three months in H Division, then he was sent up to B Division, where he met Read again. ‘He was going around attacking people for nothing, caving people’s heads in,’ said Shalala. ‘He caved [Melbourne gangster] Dennis Allen’s head in. He put a bomb in the radio room and this bloke who used to run the radio room got blown up. He was standing over everyone in B Division, and B Division was the tough wing, the one that had all the hardened criminals doing thirty years and life. And he was in there going to people’s cells and attacking them when they weren’t watching. So everyone hated him.

‘I was working down the engineers’ shop,’ said Shalala. ‘And there was this bloke making this axe. He was holding the axe part with his gloves and sharpening it on the lathe. Then he welded this one-inch hard steel rod to the axe part. I said, “That’s a nice weapon.” He said, “It’s for the boys in B Division.” It wasn’t meant for me at that time – they had their own conflict – but I ended up wearing it.’

In the playground politics of a maximum security jail, Read remembered Shalala’s early impertinence and set his friend, the fearsome Frankie Waghorn, onto him. Shalala was a skilled fighter, but Waghorn was too much for him. When Waghorn left him alone, a furious Shalala went after Read and boxed the much bigger man until Read grabbed him, pulled a knife and cut him above the eye. The fight was abandoned when prison officers came along, then Read attacked Shalala in his cell. From behind. With the axe.

‘It cut right through the bones in the side of my head,’ said Shalala. ‘I had the optical nerve severed… They told me I’d be scarred for life and my eye might be droopy. So he done the damage.’

Shalala tried to chase Read to stab him, but collapsed before he could reach him. He was taken to the jail clinic, then Royal Melbourne Hospital.

‘I thought I was going to die,’ said Shalala. ‘The doctor said, “The only thing that kept you going was your adrenaline.”

‘When they brought me back from hospital, they put me in the hospital ward at G Division,’ said Shalala. ‘In G Division, three-quarters of the people were maddies. They’d been certified insane or were about to get certified insane, and there was a hospital ward where they took you in to recover, if you’d been attacked or whatever, before they moved you to another place.

‘After a while, four screws brought Chopper Read in for an X-ray. Well, you can imagine how I felt. So I grabbed a hammer and sneaked slowly down to the X-ray room and, as I came through the front door and I was just about to hit him over the head, he turned around and he saw me. And the big heavy screamed out, “Aaaaargh! Shalala!” and all the screws jumped me. I said, “You weak bastard.”

‘They grabbed me, took me into the Observation Cells and they put me in a straitjacket. So I just went berserkos. Then they started hitting me with sedative and Valium and left me in a padded cell.’

Shalala always refused to say who had attacked him. Even Read gave him credit for his guts and go, both in the poem and a later account in his final book. ‘I’ve still got the scar,’ Shalala told me. ‘Every time I look at it, I think, “Poor old Mark. Poor old Chopper.” In the end, I did feel sorry for him, because he wasn’t normal. I’d see him on TV and I thought, He’s just a fuckwit. He just wanted to show off and be a hero to everybody, but in reality he was fool. He ruined his life.’



Read was never convicted of murder, but he had done time for kidnapping. While briefly out of prison in January 1978, Read attempted to kidnap Judge Bill Martin from a courtroom, and secure the release of Loughnan. Read was overpowered, pleaded guilty to kidnapping and malicious wounding and received a 14-year sentence. (A few years into that sentence, Loughlan turned on Read in the yard, stabbing him in the neck with an ice pick.)

Kidnapper Eastwood said Read accepted the charge of kidnapping, rather than attempted kidnapping, because he wanted to be known as a kidnapper, not a would-be, although this probably said more about Eastwood than it did about Read. The strangest thing about the Chopper books is that most murderers claim to be innocent of the crimes they committed, whereas Read admitted to murders he had not been charged with, in cases where he was not even a suspect. As Eastwood pointed out, he claimed 19 kills on national television and ‘the police didn’t even question him about it. That’s how seriously they took him.’

Nobody could say any worse about Read than Read said about himself, but he was always unwilling to dwell on the fact that he had been a police informer. In reality, he had been recruited by the Armed Robbery Squad while still serving time for Judge Martin’s kidnapping. His connections with the squad secured his release and eventually led to seven or eight people being arrested on serious charges. For his own purposes, Read himself once made statutory declarations detailing his corrupt relationships with police and prison officers, but, like his books, they are a mesh of fact and fiction.

At first, it was difficult to work out how much of Read’s books were his own work and how much had been added by his (literary) collaborators, but Rule told me that Chopper had not been edited into anything more than he was. He and John Silvester were not writing a character, they were just writing one down. There are no lessons for anyone in Chopper’s books (although he did recommend that people don’t cut off their own ears). There is just episode after episode of blank verse, comic horror.

Chopper’s success spurred Ted Eastwood to write his own stupid book, which was banned in Victoria. As Rule said, ‘They all think they’re heroes and the other bloke’s no good and [Chopper] is worse than most of them. I wouldn’t be saying, “My crook’s better than your crook.” ’

But Read cleverly marketed himself as a murderer to suit the 1990s. He didn’t explain his actions by blaming forces outside of himself. He took full responsibility for everything he had done (and lots of things he hadn’t done). Even when he was out of jail, his books helped the men in uniform get on with the job. Read’s vision of jails full of irredeemable psychopaths committing regular, barely motivated acts of extreme violence did nothing to sell fashionable ideas of prison reform or the reform of prisoners.

Over the years, I have spoken with several former prison officers about Read. There is no need to bring up his name. He finds his way into every conversation. ‘Chopper Read was a wanker,’ said Desmond Sinfield, who worked in both H Division and Pentridge’s short-lived supermax unit, Jika Jika. ‘Chopper was a real mouth. He ended up in H Division mainly because there were a lot of crooks who would knock Chopper off. So he went in there half for protection. H Division had a governor at the time [who] took a lot of the officers out that had any discipline or had any guts, and they used to get big Chopper to go and punch the pisser out of all the young kids for a big joke.’

Prison officer Colin Nash agreed. ‘He was a psychopath,’ said Nash. ‘The reason why he was always in H Division was to protect his life. If he had’ve been in the mainstream, he would’ve been dead. H Division was the only place we could protect him.’

Nash said that he admired one thing about Read: ‘He never touched a prison officer. Never.’

Always other prisoners?

‘Well, yes,’ said Nash.

By 1980, the authorities had grown tired of the Overcoat War, which no longer served any purpose for anyone. The ultra-modern, supposedly escape-proof Jika Jika had been built at Pentridge, and Read became its first inmate. He was a protection prisoner in a concrete complex with remotely operated pneumatic doors and a regime that separated inmates from staff and subjected prisoners to relentlessly monitored inactivity with low-level sensory deprivation that most found maddening.

It was in Jika Jika that Read memorably attacked fellow prisoner Alex Tsakmakis with scissors, then wrote an apology on Tsakmakis’s cell door in his own blood. After Jika Jika, Read was transferred to Bendigo Prison, before he was finally released in November 1986.

A partially reconstructed Read had an outing in February 1987, several years before the Silvester letters, when he seems to have been presented to the ABC by the prison reform activist Prisoners Action Group as a damaged product of Jika Jika. I found a copy of Read’s forgotten appearance on the 7.30 Report in the archives at the national broadcaster. Read had been out of jail for three months – not enough time, according to the presenter, to ‘forgive or forget the nine years he’s just spent in Pentridge’ – and was filmed walking through a Melbourne suburb wearing a leather bomber jacket and smoking a cigarette. He looked handsome, fit and tough. He claimed responsibility for more than 60 attacks on other prisoners and ‘almost a dozen’ attempted murders, all with the full knowledge of his guards.
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